HARTLAND

CUSTODIAL-MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION/MEA/NEA

2018 - 2021

Table of Contents

AGREEMENT	1
PURPOSE AND INTENT	
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	
ARTICLE 4 - UNION RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	
ARTICLE 5 - HEALTH - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS	4
ARTICLE 6 - UNION SECURITY - UNION MEMBERSHIP	
ARTICLE 7 - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	
ARTICLE 8 - STEWARDS AND ALTERNATE STEWARDS	
ARTICLE 9 - SPECIAL CONFERENCES	
ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY - PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 13 - SENIORITY LISTS	
ARTICLE 14 - LOSS OF SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 15 - SENIORITY OF OFFICERS AND STEWARDS	
ARTICLE 16 - SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS	
ARTICLE 17 - LAYOFF DEFINED	
ARTICLE 18 - RECALL PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 19 - TRANSFERS	
ARTICLE 20 - JOB VACANCIES, SHIFT PREFERENCE AND NEW POSITIONS	
ARTICLE 21 - VETERANS - REINSTATEMENT OF	15
ARTICLE 22 - EDUCATIONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR VETERANS	15
ARTICLE 23 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE - WITHOUT PAY	16
ARTICLE 24 - UNION BULLETIN BOARDS	17
ARTICLE 25 - RATES FOR NEW JOBS	17
ARTICLE 26 - JURY OR WITNESS DUTY	
ARTICLE 27 - EQUALIZATION OF OVERTIME HOURS	17
ARTICLE 28 - COMPUTATION OF BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 29 - SAFETY	
ARTICLE 30 - WORKING HOURS - SHIFT PREMIUM AND HOURS	18
ARTICLE 31 - TIME AND ONE HALF	21
ARTICLE 32 - DOUBLE TIME	21

ARTICLE 33 - PAID LEAVE OF ABSENCE	21
ARTICLE 34 - HOLIDAY PROVISIONS	23
ARTICLE 35 - VACATION ELIGIBILITY	23
ARTICLE 36 - VACATION PERIOD	23
ARTICLE 37 - INSURANCE PROTECTION	25
ARTICLE 38 - ALCOHOL AND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES	26
ARTICLE 39 - EVALUATIONS	
ARTICLE 40 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	28
ARTICLE 41 - TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION	
ARTICLE 42 - EFFECTIVE DATE	31
APPENDIX A	32
LONGEVITY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX B - Evaluation Form	
APPENDIX C	
GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM	

AGREEMENT

This Agreement entered into on this July 1, 2018, between the Board of Education of Hartland Consolidated Schools (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer") and Hartland Consolidated Schools Custodial-Maintenance Association MEA/NEA (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

NOTE: The headings used in the Agreement and exhibits neither add to nor subtract from the meaning, but are for reference only.

This Agreement supersedes and cancels all policies, practices and procedures written or oral between the parties and constitutes the entire Agreement. Both parties have had an opportunity to present all matters of concern in negotiations. Neither party shall be required to enter into negotiations on any item for the length of this Agreement unless mutually agreed.

PURPOSE AND INTENT

The general purpose of this Agreement is to set forth terms and conditions of employment, and to promote orderly and peaceful labor relations for the mutual interest of the Employer, the Employees and the Union.

The parties recognize that the interest of the community and the job security of the employees depend upon the Employer's success in establishing a proper service to the community.

To these ends the Employer and the Union encourage to the fullest degree friendly and cooperative relations between the respective representatives at all levels and among all employees.

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

Pursuant to and in accordance with all applicable provisions of Act 379 of the Public Acts of 1965, as amended, the Employer does hereby recognize the Union as the exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to rate of pay, wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for the term of this Agreement of all full-time and part-time custodial/maintenance employees, excluding bus drivers, office clerical employees, administrative employees, supervisors as determined by the commission and all other school employees.

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES

- A. The term employee and employees as used in this Agreement shall mean a regular employee or regular employees within the bargaining unit represented by the Union, except for irregular temporary employees and students who are excluded from the bargaining unit.
- B. The term "irregular temporary employee" as used in this Agreement shall mean an employee whose employment is either full or part-time but limited to a maximum

duration of not more than 90 work days and for:

- 1. A specific project.
- 2. The purpose of relieving regular staff members who are absent due to illness, leave of absence, or vacations.
- 3. Augmenting the regular staff to meet requirements of the system.
- C. Irregular temporary employees shall not be used to deprive employees of ad hoc overtime opportunities that may arise from time to time. The use of irregular temporary employees shall not be the cause of any layoff or reduction in hours of regular employees. The Employer may use government-funded workers in the same manner and under the same conditions as irregular temporary employees. The Union will not withhold its concurrence without just cause. Additionally, irregular temporary employees, nor government-funded workers shall be used in consecutive 90 work day periods to do the work of a bargaining unit position that has been vacated by resignation, retirement, abandonment, discharge or quit, in order to avoid the posting and filling of that position according to the procedures of Article 20 of this Agreement.
- D. <u>Use of Irregular Temporary Employees During a Layoff</u>: If, after a layoff occurs, the District needs to augment the regular staff to meet requirements of the system, and there are bargaining unit members currently on layoff, the parties agree to allow the use of irregular temporary employees as follows:
 - 1. Such work shall first be offered by seniority to laid off employees on the current seniority list. Acceptance of such work shall be voluntary. The recall rights of those currently laid off shall not be impacted in the event a laid off employee declines.
 - 2. Such work may be performed on a full-time basis by up to four (4) laid off employees.
 - 3. Employees who perform such work shall be considered in a lay-off status for the duration of the irregular temporary work, subject to recall to regular positions which may open. Upon termination of the irregular temporary job, the employee shall continue to be in a lay-off status.
 - 4. In the event there are not 4 laid-off employees who agree to accept irregular temporary work under this agreement, the District may hire from outside the layoff list to fill the remaining open positions. Employees hired from outside the list may be hired for a total of ninety (90) work days.
 - 5. Irregular temporary work shall be compensated at a rate set by the district.
 - 6. The employment of irregular temporary employees to augment the regular staff shall not result in depriving current employees of normal overtime opportunities; nor shall it result in limiting the number of new positions or vacancies.
- E. The term "student employee" shall mean any student of Hartland Consolidated Schools employed as set forth above or on a work-study program.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

- A. The Board, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the school district, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the school code and the laws of the state, the constitution of the State of Michigan and/or the United States. Such rights, duties shall include by way of illustration and not by way of limitation, the right to:
 - 1. Hire qualified employees as may be required.
 - 2. The general care and custody of the schools and property of the district, and to make and enforce suitable rules and regulations for the general management of the schools and the preservation of the property of the district.
 - 3. Establish and carry on such grades, schools and departments as it shall deem necessary or desirable for the maintenance and improvement of the schools.
 - 4. To make reasonable rules and regulations relative to anything whatever necessary for the proper establishment, maintenance, management, and carrying on of the public schools of the Hartland Consolidated Schools.
 - 5. Determine the services, supplies and equipment necessary to continue its operation and to determine all methods and means of distributing the above and establishing standards of operation, the means, methods and processes of carrying on the work.
- B. In meeting such responsibilities, the Board acts through its administrative staff. Such responsibilities include, without being limited to, the establishment of educational policies, the construction, acquisition and maintenance of school buildings and equipment, the evaluation, discipline, promotion and termination of employees; and the establishment and revision of rules and regulations governing and pertaining to work and conduct of its employees. The Board and administrative staff shall be free to exercise all of its managerial rights and authority.
- C. The Union recognizes that the Board has responsibility and authority to manage and direct, in behalf of the public, all the operations and activities of the school district to the full extent authorized by law, provided that such rights and responsibilities shall be exercised by the Board in conformity with the provision of the Agreement.
- D. The Employer agrees to comply with all reasonable requests for information which the Union requests to process any grievance or complaint.
- E. The parties agree to comply with Omnibus Transportation Act.

ARTICLE 4 - UNION RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

- A. Union employees agree to uphold this Agreement, policies, rules, regulations and practices of the Board. Each employee accepts responsibility to strive for excellence in his work, and to take advantage of opportunities for continually improving his skills and relationship with his fellow workers and superiors.
- B. The President shall be allowed time off his/her job without loss of time or pay in accordance with the terms of this section to investigate grievances, attend disciplinary hearings, appeal hearings, special conferences and to discuss grievances with supervisors and/or stewards prior to reducing the grievance to writing, upon having received permission from the supervisor to do so.

At times which do not interfere with the normal operation of the school district, the supervisor will normally grant permission and provide sufficient time to the President to leave his/her work for these purposes. The privilege of the President leaving his/her work during working hours without loss of time or pay is subject to the understanding that the time will be devoted to the proper handling of the above mentioned, and will not be abused. The President will perform his/her regularly assigned work at all times, except when necessary to leave work to handle grievances as provided herein. Any alleged abuse by either party will be a proper subject for a Special Conference.

- C. The Union shall have the right to use school facilities within established Board policy for building use.
- D. The Union agrees to supply all information which the Board requests to process any grievance or complaint.
- E. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to deny or restrict an employee's rights under the Michigan General School Law or applicable civil laws.

ARTICLE 5 - HEALTH - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS

In order to provide continuing health protection for students and employees, it shall be the policy of the Board that:

- A. Upon initial employment, each employee at Board expense will be required to have a physical examination certifying that the individual is capable of carrying out his/her particular assignment.
- B. A health certificate to be secured at Board expense, from a mutually agreed upon physician, attesting to the continuing employability of the employee, must be presented to the Board once every five (5) years after initial employment.

C. The Union and the Board jointly recognize that substance abuse and/or emotional distress may be a serious problem adversely affecting an employee's job performance. The parties further agree that the goal of the Board and the Union to provide an environment conducive to a high quality education program for students requires that employees report for work fit for duty and not in an impaired state.

The Board agrees that any bargaining unit member with a substance abuse problem, or who is suffering severe emotional distress, <u>and who requests diagnosis or treatment</u> will not jeopardize his/her job rights or job security because of such request and that such problems will be handled in a confidential manner. An employee may utilize paid leave days and/or vacation as necessary for such treatment.

When an administrator/supervisor observes a bargaining unit member experiencing difficulties in maintaining his/her performance and those difficulties, in the opinion of the administrator/supervisor, are due to substance abuse/emotional distress, he/she may discuss the apparent difficulties with the bargaining unit member at a specially scheduled conference. The bargaining unit member shall be afforded the right to have appropriate Union representatives(s) present at such interview, unless the employee waives his/her right to such representation.

The parties concern is limited to problems that cause poor attendance and/or unsatisfactory performance on the job and the Board shall expressly retain the right to direct and/or enforce appropriate employee conduct as determined by the Board.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION SECURITY - UNION MEMBERSHIP

The Employer and the Association have negotiated a separate agreement on agency shop (attached at the end) that, upon ratification, shall supersede the provisions of Articles 6 and 7. However, should the separate agreement be found to be unenforceable, then these provisions (Article 6 and 7) shall immediately return to being in full force and effect.

- A. Employees covered by this Agreement at the time it becomes effective and who are members of the Union at that time shall be required as a condition of continued employment, to continue membership in the Union or pay a service fee to the Union as established by the Union for the duration of the Agreement.
- B. Employees covered by this Agreement who are not members of the Union at the time it becomes effective shall be required as a condition of continued employment to become members of the Union or pay a service fee established by the Union commencing thirty (30) days after the effective date of this Agreement and such conditions shall be required for the duration of the Agreement.
- C. Employees hired, rehired, reinstated or transferred into the bargaining unit after the effective date of the Agreement and covered by the Agreement shall be required as a condition of continued employment to become members of the Union or pay a service fee to the Union as established by the Union for the duration of the Agreement commencing the 30th day following the beginning of their employment in the unit.

ARTICLE 7 - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

A. Upon appropriate written authorization from the bargaining unit member, the Board shall deduct from the salary of any such bargaining unit member no later than the next payroll date after all required documents are submitted and verified, and make appropriate remittance for MEA-FS, MEA-sponsored programs (tax-deferred annuities, auto insurance, homeowner insurance, etc.), MESSA programs not fully Employer-paid, credit union, savings bonds, charitable donations, or any plans or programs jointly approved by the Association and Employer, to a maximum of five (5) deductions per pay beyond the standard deductions, provided that once such deduction is authorized, it shall be subject to change only at the beginning of each subsequent semester except those deductions required because of a loan through the credit union shall be accommodated. Only one such deduction shall be used by an employee for a tax-sheltered annuity.

B. 403(b) Plans

The Board and the Association recognize the importance of each employee pursuing an active retirement savings program and in providing sound investment alternatives to assist them in achieving their retirement savings goal. The Board and the Association will work together to implement an IRS approved 403(b) Plan Program. This program shall include an IRS compliant Plan Document which may be administered by a third party administrator (TPA). The third party administrator with which the Board has presently contracted to perform support services in administering the District's 403(b) plan has not proposed to assess a fee to the Board, the bargaining unit members, or the 403(b) investment providers or sales agents for its services. Bargaining unit members will, however, be responsible for any costs or fees assessed by an investment provider and/or investment sales agent in connection with an investment selected by the bargaining unit member under the 403(b) plan. Should the current third party administrator or a future third party administrator propose to charge a fee for its services in administering the Plan, the Board will so notify the Association and provide the Association with an opportunity to bargain over the assessment of such fees to bargaining unit members and/or Plan investment providers/sales agents. The Plan Document, consistent with all legal requirements, has been provided for review and comment by the Association and was adopted by the Board prior to December 31, 2008. All bargaining unit members are eligible to participate in the Plan. The parties agree that MEA Financial Services, along with any other mutually selected investment providers, shall be named as a vendor in the 403(b) Plan Document, subject to the same terms and conditions applicable, now or in the future, to other approved venders and as appropriate under IRS regulations.

Additionally, the Plan Document shall allow for:

- 1. Employer contributions, if mutually agreed upon.
- 2. "Catch up" contributions as defined by the IRS
- 3. "Hardship" withdrawals as defined by the IRS
- 4. The ability of an employee to request and receive a loan as appropriate under 403(b) regulations

- 5. Acceptance of contributions to the Plan from monies generated by liquidation of another Plan (i.e. "rollover").
- 6. An open enrollment period at least once each year that allows participating employees the ability to make changes in their deferral elections under the Plan.
- Any monies taken under a salary reduction agreement shall be remitted to the appropriate approved vendor under the Plan as soon as reasonably possible, but within fifteen (15) business days following the act of reduction of salary.

Any changes to the features of the Plan as described above will be mutually agreed upon by the Board and the Association. The Board will maintain the Plan in compliance with all applicable Internal Revenue Code Requirements and will give timely notice to the Association of any amendments to the Plan required for that purpose.

ARTICLE 8 - STEWARDS AND ALTERNATE STEWARDS

- A. The building Stewards, during their working hours, without loss of time or pay, may in their own building for which they are responsible, in accordance with the terms of this section, investigate and present grievances to the Employer, upon having received permission from his/her supervisor to do so. At times which do not interfere with the normal operation of the school district, the supervisor will normally grant permission and provide sufficient time to the Steward to leave his/her work for these purposes. The privilege of building Stewards leaving their work during working hours without loss of time or pay is subject to the understanding that the time will be devoted to the proper handling of grievances and will not be abused; the building Stewards will perform their regularly assigned work at all times, except when necessary to leave their work to handle grievances as provided herein. Any alleged abuse by either party will be a proper subject for a Special Conference.
- B. The Union shall keep the Employer advised in writing of the names of all officers, stewards or alternate stewards.

ARTICLE 9 - SPECIAL CONFERENCES

A. Special Conferences for important matters will be arranged between the President and the Employer or its designated representative upon the request of either party. Such meetings may be between at least two (2) representatives of the Union and two (2) representatives of management. Arrangements for such Special Conferences shall be made in advance and an agenda of the matters to be taken up at the meeting shall be presented at the time the conference is requested. Matters taken up in a Special Conference shall be confined to those included in the agenda.

Conferences shall be held at mutually agreed times. The members of the Union shall not lose time or pay for time spent in such Special Conferences. This meeting may be attended by a representative of the Association. The members of the Union shall not lose time or pay for time spent in negotiating sessions as an official member of the Union negotiating team. There shall be no more than three (3) Union members negotiating on company time at any one time.

B. The Union representative may meet at a place designated by the employer on the

employer's property for at least one-half hour immediately preceding the conference with the representatives of the employer for which a written request has been made.

ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. A claim by an employee or the Union that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement, may be processed as a grievance as hereinafter provided.
- B. In the event that an employee believes there is a basis for a grievance, they shall, within five (5) work days of the date of the occurrence or event which gave rise to the grievance, first discuss the alleged grievance with their immediate supervisor either personally or accompanied by a Union Representative.
- C. If as a result of the informal discussion with the immediate supervisor a grievance still exists, the formal grievance procedure may be invoked on the form set forth in Appendix C signed by the grievant and a representative of the Union. The grievance form should include an identification number as established by the Union, based upon calendar year and grievance number (e.g., 91-1, 91-2, 92-1). A copy of the grievance form shall be delivered to the immediate supervisor within ten (10) working days of the date of the informal meeting. If the grievance involves more than one supervisor or building, it may be filed with the Assistant Superintendent for Business and Operations.
- D. Within three (3) work days of receipt of the grievance, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the Union in an effort to resolve the grievance. The supervisor shall indicate their disposition of the grievance in writing within five (5) work days of such meeting to the Union.
- E. If the Union is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, or if no disposition has been made within five (5) work days of such meeting, the grievance shall be transmitted within five (5) work days by the Union to the Assistant Superintendent for Business and Operations. Within five (5) work days the Asst. Supt. for Business and Operations or his designee shall meet with the Union Steward on the grievance and shall indicate his disposition of the grievance in writing within ten (10) work days of such meeting, to the Union.
- F. If the Union is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Assistant Superintendent for Business and Operations, or if no disposition has been made within ten (10) work days of such meeting, the grievance shall be transmitted to the Superintendent within ten (10) work days by filing a written copy thereof. Disposition of the grievance in writing by the Superintendent shall be made no later than ten (10) work days thereafter in writing to the Union.
- G. If the Union is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent or if no disposition has been made within the ten (10) work day period, the Union may submit the grievance to binding arbitration before an impartial arbitrator by filing a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association within fifteen (15) work days of the Superintendent's disposition or the deadline for the disposition.

- H. The arbitrator shall be selected according to the rules of the American Arbitration Association that shall likewise govern the arbitration proceedings. The Board and the Union shall not be permitted to assert in such arbitration proceeding any ground or to rely on any evidence not previously disclosed to the other party. The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, ignore, modify, add to, or subtract from the terms of this Agreement. Both parties agree to be bound by the award of the arbitrator made within the scope of his authority under this Agreement. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties.
- I. The time limits provided in this Article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the parties.
- J. If an individual employee has a grievance that he/she desires to discuss with a supervisor, he/she is free to do so without recourse to the grievance procedure. However, the disposition of a grievance shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE

The right to discharge or discipline employees shall remain in the sole discretion of the Employer, but no discharge or discipline shall be made without just cause.

- A. Notice of discharge or discipline: The Employer agrees promptly upon the discharge or discipline of an employee to notify in writing the local unit's President or designee.
- B. The discharged or disciplined employee will be allowed to discuss his/her discharge or discipline with the President and the Employer will make available an area where he/she may do so before he/she is required to leave the property of the Employer. Upon request, the immediate supervisor will discuss the discharge or discipline with the employee and the President.
- C. Appeal of Discharge or Discipline: Should the discharged or disciplined employee or the President consider the discharge to be improper, a grievance shall be presented in writing through the President to the immediate supervisor within three (3) regularly scheduled working days after receiving the grievance. If the decision is not satisfactory to the Union, the matter shall be referred to the grievance procedure at Level Two.
- D. <u>Use of Past Record</u>: In imposing any discipline on a current charge, the Employer will not take into account any prior infractions which occurred more than two (2) years previously nor, for any employees initially hired prior to January 26, 2009, impose discipline on an employee for falsification of his initial Employment Application after a period of two (2) years from his initial date of hire.
- E. If any employee for whom a grievance is sustained shall be found to have been unjustly discharged, the employee shall be reinstated with full reimbursement of all compensation lost. If the employee shall have been found to have been improperly deprived of any compensation, the same or its equivalent in money shall be paid to

them.

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY - PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

- A. New employees hired in the unit shall be considered as probationary employees for the first ninety (90) calendar days of their employment. When an employee finishes the probationary period, he shall be entered on the seniority list of the unit and shall rank for seniority from the date of hire. There shall be no seniority among probationary employees.
- B. The Union shall represent probationary employees for the purposes of collective bargaining in respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment and other conditions of employment as set forth in Article 1 of this Agreement, except discharged and disciplined employees for other than Union activity.
- C. Seniority shall be on a bargaining unit wide basis in accordance with the employee's last date of hire. The seniority of part-time employees shall be prorated in relation to seniority acquired by full-time employees. Should two or more employees have a common date of hire, ranking among them shall be determined by first distinguishing between those who have past experience in custodial-maintenance work with the employer prior to their date of hire and those who do not have such past experience. Those with such past experience shall be ranked above those who don't. Should two or more employees remain tied in rank within the two groups of those with past experience and those without, ranking among the tied employees within the respective groups shall be determined by ranking the employees according to the last four digits of their social security numbers. The highest four digits designate the highest rank position.

ARTICLE 13 - SENIORITY LISTS

- A. Seniority shall not be affected by the race, sex, marital status, or dependents of the employees.
- B. The seniority list on the date of this Agreement will show the names and job titles of all employees of the unit entitled to seniority.
- The Employer will keep the seniority list up-to-date at all times and will provide the President with an up-to-date copy, annually or on request.

ARTICLE 14 - LOSS OF SENIORITY

An employee shall lose his seniority for the following reasons only:

- A. He quits.
- B. He is discharged and the discharge is not reversed through the procedure set forth in this Agreement.

- C. If he does not return to work when recalled from layoff as set forth in the recall procedure.
- D. Employees shall not accrue seniority during layoff but shall be frozen from the date of layoff.

ARTICLE 15 - SENIORITY OF OFFICERS AND STEWARDS

In the event of a layoff only, the unit's President and Vice-President shall continue to be employed as long as jobs remain in their classifications requiring their services. Stewards and the unit's secretary shall in the event of a layoff, be credited with one (1) year of additional seniority with regard to job retention, providing that they have the ability to do the work available. The steward shall add this additional year to his/her current seniority prior to utilizing his/her rights under Article 17 and the additional year shall be exclusively for the purpose of layoff and recall.

ARTICLE 16 - SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS

All proposed supplemental agreements shall be subject to Good Faith negotiations between the Employer and the Union. They shall be approved or rejected within a reasonable period of time following the conclusion of negotiations.

ARTICLE 17 - LAYOFF DEFINED

A. The word "layoff" means a reduction in the working force due to a decrease of work, or lack of funds.

When a position is eliminated by the employer, the employee in the eliminated position is considered to be on a layoff. When a layoff occurs, the employee is in "layoff status". This is not to be interpreted to mean that the employee is automatically "on the street". The employee in "layoff status" has the option to use his/her seniority to bump a less senior employee in an equal or less classification in accordance with Article 17 B.

- B. If it becomes necessary for a layoff, the following procedure will be followed: "Irregular temporary employees", followed by probationary employees will be laid off first. Seniority employees will be laid off according to inverse seniority as defined in Article 12 C. and Article 15. In proper cases exceptions may be made. Employees laid off shall be allowed to use their seniority to bump less senior employees in equal or lower pay classifications provided they have the ability to perform the work of that classification (see AAA arbitration case #54 39000754 06, award dated 4-9-07). Disposition of these cases will be a proper matter for Special Conference and if not resolved, it shall then be subject to the final step of the grievance procedure.
- C. Employees to be laid off will have at least thirty (30) calendar days' notice of layoff. The President shall receive a list from the Employer of the employees being laid off on the same date the notices are issued to the employees.

D. Employees may accept a layoff voluntarily on a high seniority basis. Once laid off, the employee shall not be able to return to work except through the normal recall process. A laid off employee's name will be removed from the seniority list after a period of ten (10) years. Employees who are employed with the district or on the lay-off list as of January 26, 2009 shall be excluded.

ARTICLE 18 - RECALL PROCEDURE

When the working force is increased or a vacancy occurs and there are employees on layoff, employees will be recalled according to seniority, as defined in Article 12 C and Article 15 according to the following procedure:

- 1. A new or vacant position shall first be posted internally for <u>active</u> employees, according to Article 20 A. Upon completion of the posting process, a qualified employee on layoff shall be recalled in order of seniority to the resulting vacancy.
 - In order to be deemed qualified the most senior employee on the recall list shall be offered the opportunity to take the qualifying tests, if not already qualified. Upon passing the tests, the employee shall be recalled to the position. Taking the tests is at the employee's option, and declining the opportunity shall not affect the employee's recall status.
- Notice of recall shall be sent to the employee at his last known address by registered or certified mail. If an employee fails to report for work within ten (10) calendar days from date of mailing of notice of recall he shall be considered a quit.
- 3. No new employee shall be hired in a position until all laid off employees qualified to perform the position have been given an opportunity to return to active duty in that position.

ARTICLE 19 - TRANSFERS

If an employee is transferred to a position under the employer not included in the unit and is thereafter transferred again to a position within the unit, he/she shall not have accumulated seniority while working in the position to which he/she was transferred.

ARTICLE 20 - JOB VACANCIES, SHIFT PREFERENCE AND NEW POSITIONS

A. Job vacancies within the bargaining unit shall be filled on the basis of seniority and qualifications. Job vacancies will be posted for a period of five (5) working days, setting forth the minimum requirement for the position in a conspicuous place in each building. Employees interested shall apply within the five (5) working days posting period. The senior employees applying and who meet the minimum requirements shall be granted a thirty (30) working day trial period to determine his ability to perform the job. The trial period for transfer within classification will be reduced to fifteen (15) working days.

The Employer shall reserve the right to utilize testing (practical/written) to determine qualifications, subject to the following conditions:

- 1. The Employer shall determine the passing score if a test is to be administered and include in the posting that a test is required, along with notice of what constitutes a passing score.
- 2. The Union President shall have the opportunity to review the test and offer recommendations.
- 3. The test shall be reasonably related to expected job duties.
- 4. The test shall be administered under uniform conditions.
- 5. Test results will be reviewed with the individual employee upon request.
- 6. The Employer agrees not to initiate written tests for custodian/head custodian positions.
- 7. If a test for a position is changed, any employee who has previously passed the test for a position but is not currently in the position for which the test has been changed will be required to re-take the test to remain qualified for the position.

In the event the senior applicant is denied the promotion, reasons for denial shall be given in writing to the employee with a copy to the President; in the event the senior applicant disagrees with the reasons for denial it shall be a proper subject for the grievance procedure, at the Second Level.

- B. During the 30 working day trial period, the employee shall have the opportunity to revert back to his/her former classification. If the employee is unsatisfactory in the new position, notice and reasons shall be submitted to the employee in writing by the Employer with a copy to the President. The matter may then become a proper subject for the Second Level of the grievance procedure.
- C. An employee reverting back to his/her former classification shall not be eligible for another trial period for six (6) months following his/her return.
- D. During the trial period, employees will receive the rate of the job they are performing.
- E. The District may add part-time employees to the workforce, limited to a ratio of one part-time employee to four full-time employees as follows: For the current work force of thirteen (13), three (3) part-time employees may be added. When the full-time work force reaches sixteen (16), a fourth part-time employee may be added. Part-time positions shall be defined as not less than four (4) hours and not more than six (6) hours per day. Employees in these positions are not eligible to receive health benefits. Part-time positions shall not replace any current bargaining unit positions. The District must maintain at least thirteen (13) full-time positions in order to add any part-time positions.

When possible, the District will give consideration for flexible hours in order to allow laid off employees to return to part-time positions.

- F. The District may add 44-week employees to the workforce. 44-week positions shall be defined as 44 consecutive weeks with eight (8) weeks off, unpaid. The District will determine the start and end dates for 44-week employees based on operational needs. Employees in these positions will earn 10 sick days, 4 personal business days, and one (1) week of vacation. Employees in these positions are eligible to receive health benefits. 44-week positions shall not replace any current bargaining unit positions.
- G. When it is known or expected that a head custodian will be off work for at least three (3) consecutive work days, the position and responsibilities will be filled as follows:
 - 1. By choice, in order of seniority. If the most senior employee electing the position is on the day shift, he/she will change to the second shift if school is in session.
 - 2. If no one within the building elects to assume the head custodian responsibilities, the most senior employee on the second shift in that building will be appointed.
 - 3. If there are only two custodians working in a building, one on days and one on nights, the day person may assume the head custodian responsibilities without going on second shift.
 - 4. All temporary vacancies in the head custodian position that are known or expected to exceed 60 calendar days will be posted as noted in Article 20, I.

Individuals assuming head custodian responsibilities under this section will receive head custodian pay for all days <u>worked</u> in that position.

- H. The parties affirm the mutual goal of encouraging and supporting active employees to train for higher skill jobs in the bargaining unit. To this end opportunities may be provided for employees to work with other employees for the purpose of upgrading job skills at the discretion of the maintenance supervisor, if and when it is operationally feasible. Such opportunity shall not be unreasonably denied.
- I. All temporary vacancies that are known or expected to exceed 60 calendar days (i.e., vacancies due to leave of absence and workers' compensation leaves) will be posted as "temporary vacancies" in accordance with the regular procedures found in this agreement. Temporary vacancies shall not exceed two (2) years.

The posting of a temporary vacancy shall include notification that the awarding of the position will be reversed in the event of the original employee's return.

When a temporary position becomes available and there are employees on lay-off, the following will apply:

1. The temporary vacancy will first be posted to active employees who can qualify for the position. It will then be posted to laid-off employees to be filled by seniority and qualifications. Acceptance of the position is voluntary and refusal shall not impact

- recall rights.
- 2. In the event of the return of the original employee, the temporary employee (if previously on lay-off) will return to lay-off status and does not have bumping rights.
- 3. A laid-off employee will accrue seniority while working in the temporary position and have all other rights of the contract.

Should the temporary vacancy become permanent, or if the two-year period should expire, the temporary assignments shall become permanent and the vacant position will be immediately posted in accordance with the regular procedures found in this Agreement.

The Employer shall only be required to post the original temporary vacancy, unless the temporary vacancy is known or expected to exceed 180 calendar days. One succeeding temporary vacancy will be posted, if one exists, as a result of the first posting being filled when the original temporary vacancy is known or expected to exceed 180 calendar days.

In the event an employee holding a temporary position successfully bids on a permanent vacancy, upon completion of any necessary trial period the last permanent position held by that employee shall be posted as a permanent vacancy. The vacated temporary position shall be promptly reposted as a temporary vacancy. A reposted temporary position will be only for the remainder of the temporary vacancy to finish out the temporary position as initially posted. The substitute will then be utilized to fill any subsequent temporary vacancy occurring as a result of the reposting.

A substitute may be utilized to fill an open position as a result of the temporary vacancy. During a lay-off a substitute may be used to fill such positions. A laid-off employee utilized in such a substitute position shall be paid at the rate of \$11.25 per hour, but shall not receive fringe benefits and not accrue seniority.

ARTICLE 21 - VETERANS - REINSTATEMENT OF

The re-employment rights of employees and probationary employees will be in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

ARTICLE 22 - EDUCATIONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR VETERANS

- A. Employees who are reinstated in accordance with the Universal Military Training Act, as amended, and other applicable laws and regulations will be granted leaves of absence without pay for a period not to exceed a period equal to their seniority in order to attend school full time under applicable federal laws in effect on the date of this Agreement.
- B. Employees who are in some branch of Armed Forces Reserve or the National Guard will be paid the difference between their Reserve pay and their regular pay with the district when they are on full time active duty in the Reserve or National Guard, provided proof of service and pay is submitted. A maximum of two (2) weeks per year is the limit.

ARTICLE 23 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE - WITHOUT PAY

- A. Applications for leaves of absence must be made in writing and submitted to the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee with a 14-day notice. Said leaves are not to exceed one (1) year.
- B. Leaves of absence for a period not to exceed one (1) year will be granted for:
 - 1. Serving in any public or union elected or appointed position.
 - 2. Childbirth/child care leave in lieu of utilizing paid leave. Employees may at their discretion, elect to use their accumulated sick leave for the period of disability due to pregnancy or may choose to request a childbirth/child care leave without pay. Should an employee elect to use their accumulated sick leave during their pregnancy related disability or complications therefrom and their accumulation is exhausted, they will be placed on a leave of absence without pay for physical illness.
 - 3. Illness leave (physical or mental).
 - 4. Serious illness of a member of the immediate family.
 - 5. Military leaves to any employee who is inducted.
- C. Upon expiration of any of the above leaves of absence, the employee shall be returned to his or her former position within the bargaining unit. It is acknowledged that to accommodate return of the employee to his or her former position, the employer may utilize substitute employees for the duration of the leave as a specific exemption from the limitations of Article 2 Definition of Employees.
- D. Leaves of absence may be extended for an additional twelve (12) months.
- E. In the event of an unpaid leave of thirty (30) calendar days or more employees shall not lose his/her seniority but seniority shall not accrue for the period of the leave.
- F. Employees shall not be eligible to receive or accrue any fringe benefits while on leave.
- G. Members of the Union elected to attend a function of the Association such as conventions or education conferences, shall be allowed time off without pay to attend such conferences and/or conventions.
- H. An employee on a leave of more than 60 calendar days will provide at least five (5) working days' notice of intent to return. The employee may also elect to return prior to the scheduled expiration of the leave, provided the five (5) working day notice of intent to return is given. An approved leave of 60 calendar days or less shall be of a fixed duration and the employer may expect the employee to report at their normal time on the first workday following the last day of the approved leave.
- I. Leaves of absence for other reasons may be approved at the discretion of the Superintendent/Superintendent's designee and must be requested in writing.
- J. Leave provisions of this Agreement shall be construed consistently with the

requirements of the Family & Medical Leave Act. However, if the leave provisions under this Article are more generous, this Agreement shall prevail. All such leaves may be concurrent with, and not in addition to, any other applicable leaves provided for in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 24 - UNION BULLETIN BOARDS

- A. The Employer will provide bulletin boards in each building that may be used by the Union for posting notices of the following types:
 - 1. Notices of recreational and social events.
 - Notices of Union elections.
 - 3. Notices of results of Union elections.
 - 4. Notices of meetings.

ARTICLE 25 - RATES FOR NEW JOBS

When a new job is placed in a unit and cannot be properly placed in an existing classification, the Employer will notify the Union prior to establishing a classification and rate structure. In the event the Union does not agree that the description and rate are proper, it shall be subject to negotiation, through Special Conference.

ARTICLE 26 - JURY OR WITNESS DUTY

An employee who serves on jury duty will be paid the difference between his/her pay for jury duty and his/her regular pay. An employee who is subpoenaed to appear as a witness in a court proceeding to which he is not a party nor stands to benefit there from and which is not in conjunction with employment elsewhere will be paid the difference between the witness fee and his/her regular pay.

ARTICLE 27 - EQUALIZATION OF OVERTIME HOURS

Overtime hours shall be divided as equally as possible among employees in the same classifications in their building and classification. Such overtime hours shall be offered according to seniority as follows:

- 1. Volunteers within the building and classification,
- 2. Volunteers outside of the building but in the same classification,
- Volunteers from other classifications.

If nobody desires voluntary overtime hours, the Employer may then assign such hours as mandatory overtime hours according to inverse seniority as equally as possible among those employees in the effected building and classification.

For the purpose of this article head custodian and custodians shall be considered to be the same classification.

ARTICLE 28 - COMPUTATION OF BENEFITS

All hours paid to an employee shall be considered as hours worked for the purpose of computing any of the benefits under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 29 - SAFETY

The Board agrees to use its best efforts to see that reasonably safe working conditions are maintained at all times in the schools. It is agreed between the parties that their respective safety committees will meet at reasonable intervals of time for purposes of reviewing case histories of actual lost time accidents involving members of the unit and to consider recommendations and suggestions regarding existing and proposed safety rules. Employees willfully failing to comply with safety regulations shall be subject to disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 30 - WORKING HOURS - SHIFT PREMIUM AND HOURS

- A. The first shift is any shift that regularly starts on or after 6:00 a.m., but before 10:30 a.m. The second shift is any shift that regularly starts on or after 10:31 a.m., but before 8:00 p.m. The third shift is any shift that regularly starts on or after 8:01 p.m. but before 5:59 a.m. A shift shall be considered a regular shift if it is of a duration of at least seven (7) calendar days.
- B. At times when school is not in session during school vacations, all employees may be assigned to the first shift.
- C. Employees shall be assigned to a regular shift. A shift once assigned shall not be changed to avoid the payment of overtime.
- D. A regular shift shall not exceed eight (8) hours per day.
- E. A regularly scheduled work week shall not exceed 40 hours.
- F. Employer shall have the right to assign work shifts/schedules that incorporate Saturday or Sunday as part of the regular work week (Sunday Thursday, or Tuesday Saturday) with no "premium" pay. The following qualifiers shall apply:
 - No current employee will be forced to take an alternate schedule.
 - Thirteen (13) Monday-Friday positions shall be maintained.
- G. Notification time for a change in schedule will be fifteen (15) work days or a timeline agreed to by the employer and employee. Annual seasonal shift changes will require a five (5) work day notice. Individual requests to delay the implementation of the effective start date will be considered on a case by case basis.
- H. First shift employees regular day shift shall consist of eight and one-half (8-1/2) hours with a thirty (30) minute unpaid lunch period. Second shift employees shall work an eight (8) hour day with 30 minutes off for lunch included in the eight (8) hour period. Third shift employees shall work an eight (8) hour day with 45 minutes off for lunch

- included in the eight (8) hour period.
- I. Employees may take a 15 minute break in the A.M. and also a 15 minute break in the P.M., or the first half and second half of their regular shift, whichever may apply.
- J. An employee reporting for overtime duty shall be guaranteed at least two (2) hours' pay at the overtime rate per Articles 31 and 32.
- K. During the summer recess period, the Employer may implement shifts of ten (10) hours per day for a four (4) day, 40 hour work week that shall be four (4) contiguous days between Monday and Friday. Prior to designating the four (4) contiguous days for the shift, the Employer shall consult with the Union to determine the days most desirable for its operational needs.
- L. A Head Custodian may be assigned to the day shift for not more than two (2) weeks at a time, when mutually agreed by the head custodian and the supervisor, and such reassignment will not require filling of a temporary head custodian vacancy.
- M. Each week a Maintenance 1 or Maintenance 2 employee will be on-call to respond to alarms/calls concerning a problem at a District facility/building. The on-call employee must be available to respond as necessary to the site within forty-five (45) minutes and therefore must leave a telephone number where the employee can be reached at all times or carry a district provided pager.

Coverage for the week will be rotated among all Maintenance employees starting first with the most senior employee. An employee who wishes to swap on-call days or weekends with another employee due to a scheduling conflict must make the arrangements themself and notify all concerned. An employee may be removed from the rotation due to extenuating circumstances either personal or on-call performance related, at the discretion of the supervisor.

The Employee on-call will be paid a stipend of \$150 for the week; \$75 for the weekend and \$75 for the week days. Beginning July 1, 2020 the on-call employee will be paid a stipend of \$200 for the week; \$100 for the weekend and \$100 for the week days.

In addition to the weekend stipend, if the employee is contacted to respond to an alarm or problem at a District facility/building the employee will be paid per Article 30, J. In addition the week-day stipend, if the employee is contacted to respond to an alarm or problem at a District facility/building the employee will be paid per Article 30, J. However, if there are multiple calls in one day, and the employee is still in the district, or if the employee lives in the district and has not yet returned home, the employee is not entitled to receive a minimum of two hours pay for each call.

Holiday on-call will be paid an additional \$15 per day if the holiday falls on a Monday-Friday.

N. SNOW WATCH

Hartland Consolidated Schools will add a \$150 dollar weekly stipend to the on-call stipend for the purpose of compensating the on-call person for monitoring the weather. This stipend will be paid to the on-call maintenance person from the last full week in November until the first full week in March.

The additional responsibilities required by this stipend are as follows:

- To monitor the weather in the district for upcoming snow or ice conditions.
- To determine if and when snow plowing or salting is needed to insure operations of all school functions.
- To communicate with the Director or Supervisor on the conditions in the district and help determine when to start plowing or salting.
- To call in the appropriate staff once plowing is approved.
- To travel into the district as needed to assess the conditions. This travel time is compensated by this stipend. Time spent salting or plowing will be paid at the applicable rate.

O. BUS DRIVING

- 1. Members of the bargaining unit may voluntarily agree to become trained and licensed to be available for temporary assignment as bus drivers.
- 2. Employees will be considered to be "in the pool of potential drivers" when they have successfully passed the state road test. If an Employee is off on a paid or unpaid leave of thirty (30) calendar days or longer, h/she will not be considered to be "in the pool of potential drivers" until able to return to active duty as a driver.
- 3. Employees who voluntarily agree to such assignment shall be paid a stipend of \$150 on the first paycheck of each calendar month following the month an Employee is in the pool of potential drivers.
- 4. The stipend payment for any partial months (including the first and last months) will be five dollars (\$5.00) for each calendar day the Employee was in the pool of potential drivers.
- 5. While driving a bus, employees shall be paid the RTC bus driver "scale 1" hourly rate or their current hourly rate, whichever is greater.
- 6. The Employer will determine the number of Employees to be placed in the pool. Additional Employees shall be placed in the pool by seniority unless there is sufficient reason to deny placement. The Employer may not unreasonably deny an Employee who volunteers for such duty.
- 7. Training will be scheduled and funded by the District. Employees will be released to attend training and testing. Additionally, the Employer will fund the cost of all certification, license renewal, insurances, etc.
- 8. Employees who become trained and licensed must make themselves available, per paragraph 9 below, for temporary driver assignments as needed. The Employer shall notify the Employee of the need for the temporary assignment as soon as the need is known.

- 9. To the extent possible and reasonable, temporary driver assignments shall be fairly shared among the list of CDL licensed Employees on the temporary driver assignment list. Assignments shall be reasonable to the hours the Employee works.
- 10. Employees may reject such temporary assignments only for reasons that cannot be avoided. Examples: illness, previous commitment that cannot be changed, etc. When assigned to on–call duty, Employees shall not be considered available for temporary driver assignment unless other arrangements can be made to cover on-call events.

Employees who are on sick leave, vacation, personal business leave, bereavement leave, etc. shall not be expected to accept assignments scheduled on days they will not be at work.

11. The Employee or the Employer may remove the Employee from the pool of temporary driver volunteers as follows:

The Employer must have good cause and state the reason for removing the Employee from the pool. The Employer may not unreasonably deny the Employee the ability to remain in the pool.

If an Employee is considering removal from the pool, the Employee shall first discuss this possibility with the Employer at the earliest possible time. If after that discussion the Employee still wishes to be removed from the pool, the Employee shall give 30 days' notice unless otherwise agreed between the Employee and the Employer.

In either case, the Employee shall not be charged with repayment of any of the expenses of training, licensure, insurances, or any costs associated with becoming qualified to be in the pool.

ARTICLE 31 - TIME AND ONE HALF - Time and one half will be paid as follows:

- A. For all hours over forty (40) in one week.
- B. For Saturday as such.

ARTICLE 32 - DOUBLE TIME - Double time will be paid as follows:

- A. For all hours worked on Sunday.
- B. For all hours worked on holidays that are defined in this Agreement in addition to holiday pay.

ARTICLE 33 - PAID LEAVE OF ABSENCE

A. At the beginning of each fiscal year (July 1), the Board of Education will credit each employee with fourteen (14) days leave with pay, to be used for personal business or illness. Of the fourteen (14) days, a maximum of four (4) days may be used for personal business annually. Personal business days are to be used for situations of an urgent and crucial nature which require the personal attention of the employee and cannot be attended to at alternative times that do not interfere with the duties of employment and for which other leave is not provided in this Agreement.

No two business days may be taken consecutively, or on a day prior to, or following a vacation period. In each case of death in the immediate family, an additional four (4) days will be granted with pay. A maximum of fourteen (14) sick days shall be accumulated from year to year. Definition of immediate family: Mother, father, brother, sister, wife or husband, son or daughter, step-child and adopted children of a current marriage, grandparents, and grandchildren, mother-in-law and father-in-law of a current marriage, brother-in-law and sister-in-law of a current marriage, son-in-law and daughter-in-law of a current marriage or a member of the employee's resident household.

In the event of serious family illness, paid leave may be used to care for a member of the immediate family, and advanced as necessary, with prior approval at the discretion of the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee.

For any employee who has hospital days, such days shall be transferred to their personal sick leave bank on a one-for-one basis (one hospital day = one sick day).

- B. Employees shall be allowed two (2) hours off with pay to attend the funeral of a then current member of the bargaining unit. The Employer reserves the right to limit the number of employees being allowed the two (2) hours off if the Employer has special operational needs.
- C. An employee absent from work because of injury incurred at the site of employment shall not be charged with loss of personal sick leave for the seven (7) calendar days' interim before Worker's Compensation begins, except as provided below when Worker's Compensation benefits revert to the first day of absence. An employee absent due to a condition covered by Worker's Compensation may elect:
 - 1. To receive Worker's Compensation benefits only with no charge against sick leave; or
 - To receive paid sick leave benefits on a pro-rated basis of the difference between the employee's normal pay and the amount of the Worker's Compensation benefits until the employee is released to return to work or the exhaustion of the employee's paid sick leave accumulation whichever occurs first.

On-the-job injuries which arise out of and occur within the scope of employment and require recuperative therapy during the work day shall not be charged against sick leave nor shall the employee suffer a pay deduction for such work time lost.

D. The Union shall receive the use of five (5) total days per year to attend union conferences and training. The first two days are to be paid by the district. The remaining three days will come from the leave bank of the union officer who is using

the day.

ARTICLE 34 - HOLIDAY PROVISIONS

- A. The paid holidays are designated as: New Year's Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Friday after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, Day after Christmas, and New Year's Eve respectively. Employees will be paid their current rate based on their regularly scheduled work shift for said holidays. The employee will not receive holiday pay earned during their probationary period until their probationary period is successfully completed.
- B. Should a holiday fall on Saturday, Friday shall be considered as the holiday. Should a holiday fall on Sunday, Monday shall be considered as the holiday.
- C. Except in the event a holiday falls during the time school is in session, the holiday will be observed in accordance with the school calendar.
- D. The Employer may use substitute custodians on weekday holidays in the Community Education Building.

ARTICLE 35 - VACATION ELIGIBILITY

For the purpose of qualification for vacation credit, all employees shall be considered to have a common anniversary date (July 1).

Prior to their first common anniversary date new employees will be granted vacation time according to the following schedule and to be used after successfully completing their probation.

Hire Month	July	Aug	Sept	<u>Oct</u>	Nov	Dec	<u>Jan</u>	<u>Feb</u>	<u>Mar</u>	Apr	May	<u>Jun</u>
Vacation days	5	4.5	4	4	3.5	3	2.5	2	2	0	0	0

- After the 1st common anniversary 5 vacation days will be granted.
- After the 2nd common anniversary 5 vacation days will be earned.
- After the 3rd common anniversary 10 vacation days will be earned.
- After the 6th common anniversary 15 vacation day will be earned.
- After the 11th common anniversary 20 vacation days will be earned.

ARTICLE 36 - VACATION PERIOD

A. Vacations will normally be granted during school vacation periods, subject to the efficient operation of the schools. When school is in session and through the month of June vacations will only be granted for up to one (1) maintenance and two (2) utility employees at the same time, additional employees may be approved at the discretion of the Maintenance Supervisor or designee. Vacations during the two weeks prior to the start of school each year will not be approved, except in the event of extenuating

circumstances at the sole discretion of the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee.

Employees having vacation days may use those days during school vacation periods, or other periods of the year, provided such use does not interfere with the efficiency of the custodial-maintenance operations in the schools.

Three times each year the Employer shall post available vacation periods for the use of vacation. The posting period for the months of March through June shall be the month of January. The posting period for the months of November through February shall be the month of May. The posting period for the months of November through February shall be the month of September. Employees are encouraged to bid on the vacation period of their choice during the open posting period to ensure priority selection over those employees who desire vacation but do not indicate their choice during the posting period. Employees will be granted the vacation period of choice based on seniority first from those who used the open posting period and second from those indicating a choice outside of the posting period. Vacation awarding is subject to the operational feasibility of the employee's absence. All vacations not scheduled during the posting periods will require a written notice of five (5) work days. Exceptions will be considered on a case by case basis.

- B. When a holiday is observed by the Employer during a scheduled vacation, the vacation will be extended one day continuous with the vacation.
- C. A vacation may not be waived by an employee and extra pay received for work during that period. Vacation time not used during the year following the year it was earned shall be forfeited with the exception that employees may carry forward up to five days from year to year, however, these additional days must be used by the conclusion of their fifth year of employment. Employees who exceeded the limited accrual that took effect July 1, 1989 shall be allowed to maintain the same amount of accrued vacation as they had on June 30, 1989.
- D. If an employee is laid off or retired, or severs his/her employment, he will receive any unused vacation credit including that accrued in the current calendar year. A recalled employee who received credit at the time of layoff for the current calendar year will have such credit deducted from his vacation the following year.
- E. Rate during vacation: Employees will be paid their current rate based on their regular scheduled day while on vacation and will receive credit for any benefits provided for in this Agreement.
- F. An employee on vacation shall not be charged vacation days for sickness or illness as certified by a physician or death in the immediate family which occur during a vacation period, provided that the employee has paid leave days pursuant to Article 33 against which the days may be charged.

ARTICLE 37 - INSURANCE PROTECTION

Pursuant to the authority set forth in Section 1255 of the School Code of 1976, as amended, the Board agrees to furnish for all full time maintenance-custodial employees.

The Governing Board of Livingston Healthcare Consortium (LHC) will determine the choice of medical plans available to employees. Should the LHC no longer operate or if the District no longer participates in the LHC, medical plans offered at the time of termination or separation will continue to be offered to employees until another agreement between the parties is reached.

The Board shall pay the following annual amounts towards the total cost of the PAK A medical premium and FSA or HEQ (Health Equity) HAS funding described below for each plan year:

Beginning July 1, 2017:

\$ 6,344.80	times the number of employees with single-person coverage
\$13,268.93	times the number of employees with individual-and-spouse
	coverage or individual-plus-one-nonspouse-dependent coverage
\$17,304.02	times the number of employees and with family coverage.

Beginning July 1, 2018:

\$6,560.52 times the number of employees with single-person coverage
\$13,720.07 times the number of employees with individual-and-spouse
coverage or individual-plus-one-nonspouse-dependent coverage
\$17,892.36 times the number of employees with family coverage.

- Beginning January 1, 2019 these annual Board paid amounts shall automatically adjust each plan year (January 1) by the change in the medical care component of the United States consumer price index as defined in PA 152 for the period ending the immediately preceding October 1.
- These Hard Cap contributions shall reflect the actual MESSA billing census.
- The Board shall first make payments up to the hard cap total towards the medical premium.
- Effective July 1, 2018, when the total medical premium cost is less than the total hard cap, the Board will provide the difference to each members' Flexible Savings Account (through December 31, 2018) or HEQ HSA (beginning on January 1, 2019) on a ratio determined by the HCMA.

- Effective July 1, 2018, when the total medical premium cost exceeds the total hard cap, the remaining annual cost for the employee's elected medical plan premiums shall be paid by the employee. Each employee's monthly contribution towards medical premiums shall be determined annually after the bargaining unit's open enrollment.
- The employee's premium contribution will be payroll deducted, in equal biweekly amounts from each paycheck for the remaining pay periods into a qualified Section 125 Plan, using pre-tax dollars. The Board's "qualified Section 125 Plan" shall include any and all of the provisions necessary for pre-tax contributions to employee's HSA accounts administered through HEQ.
- Employees may contribute, through payroll deduction and electronic transfer additional money towards their FSA or HEQ HSA up to the maximum amounts allowed by Federal law.
- The parties understand that in the event the minimum IRS Health Saving Account deductible necessary for a medical plan to comply with HSA eligibility is increased beyond the current deductible level in a MESSA Plan, the deductible will be automatically adjusted to meet the federal minimum requirement.

All other non-medical/PAK B benefits described in the Collective Bargaining Agreement shall continue to be fully paid by the Board.

The parties understand that if not already in the plan offered a plan will be made available by the required date to meet requirements of the Federal Affordable Care Act.

C. For Employees hired before 7/1/95, the Board will provide to those employees who choose to not take health insurance a total amount of \$8104.56. For Employees hired after 7/1/95, the Board will provide to those employees who choose to not take health insurance a total amount of \$5673.19. The total amounts will be paid out over 12 months and added to the Employee's paycheck once a month. Any tax incidence due to the implementation of this provision shall be the responsibility of the employee except the Employer shall be responsible for its share of FICA. Employees will be allowed to return to the health insurance at any time allowed by the health insurance carrier underwriting rules.

ARTICLE 38 - ALCOHOL AND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES

The school district has a strong commitment to its employees to provide a safe work environment. Industry requires that personnel, equipment, as well as operating practices be consistent with high standards of health and safety. While the school district has no intention of intruding into the private lives of its employees, it expects all employees to report for work in a condition to safely perform their duties. The presence of drugs or alcohol on the job and the influence of these substances on the employees during work hours are inconsistent with these objectives.

A. Drug Policy:

The use, possession, distribution or sale of illegal or unauthorized drugs by bargaining unit employees while engaged in school district business or on school property will be in violation of this policy and subject to disciplinary action up to and including immediate discharge. Illegal or unauthorized drugs include any substance that affects the body as a narcotic, depressant, stimulant, hallucinogen or cannabinoid.

B. Prescription and Over the Counter Drugs:

Prescription drugs taken pursuant to a physician's instructions, or over-the-counter drugs taken in recommended dosages and in accordance with cautionary statements, are excluded from the definition of "illegal" or "unauthorized" drugs. However, it is the employee's responsibility to notify the supervisor when taking any medication that may impair judgment or performance or otherwise adversely affect physical or mental function or ability. Any prescription or over-the-counter drug used by an employee shall be contained in the container it came in. The employer reserves the right to determine through its own medical practitioner whether use of said medication is consistent with this policy. Further, at the discretion of the employer, the employer may move the employee to a more suitable position, grant the employee a leave of absence, or take whatever action the employer deems appropriate to promote safety and efficiency.

C. Alcohol Policy:

The presence of alcohol in the person's system shall be considered a violation of this policy and may result in discipline up to and including immediate discharge.

D. Searches:

The employer may conduct searches of employees for drugs or alcohol if the employer has reasonable suspicion to believe the employee is in violation of the drug and alcohol policy. Searches include, but are not limited to luggage, lockers, lunch boxes, clothing, billfolds, purses, toolboxes, vehicles, and parcels located on district property. Refusal of an employee to consent to such a search shall be grounds for discipline up to and including discharge.

E. Drug/Alcohol Testing:

All employees are subject to random testing. Further, employees may be tested in the event the employer has reason to believe the employee is in violation of this policy.

ARTICLE 39 – EVALUATIONS

- A. The work of all employees shall be observed for evaluation purposes no more than twice each year, in August and/or February. All monitoring or observation of the work of each employee shall be conducted in person and with full knowledge of the employee. Evaluations shall be by personal observation by the employee's immediate supervisor.
- B. In July of each year, or upon initial employment, each employee shall be presented a copy of the Employee Evaluation form (see Appendix B) which shall contain the specific criteria upon which the employee will be evaluated. This form is the only authorized form for conducting evaluations.

- C. <u>Written Evaluations:</u> A written evaluation shall be completed for each employee at least once per year. All "Needs Improvement" and "Unsatisfactory" ratings require written comment from the evaluator. In addition, all "Unsatisfactory" ratings require a Performance Improvement Plan. The Performance Improvement Plan shall set forth in specific terms the reasons for the "Unsatisfactory" rating, an identification of the ways in which the employee is to improve, and the assistance to be given by the employer towards that improvement. In subsequent evaluations, failure to again note a specific deficiency shall be interpreted to mean that adequate improvement has taken place.
- D. <u>Evaluation Conference</u>: Following each formal evaluation, which shall include a conference with the evaluator; the employee shall sign and be given a copy of the completed Employer Evaluation Form. In no case shall the employee's signature be construed to mean that he/she agrees with the content of the evaluation. An employee may submit additional comments to the Employee Evaluation form if he/she desires. All written evaluations are to be placed in the employee's personnel file.
- E. <u>Termination:</u> In the event an employee is not continued in employment, the Employer will advise the employee of the specific reasons thereof in writing with a copy to the Association.

ARTICLE 40 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. <u>Protective Clothing:</u>

If an employee is required to wear protective clothing or any type of protective device or equipment as a condition of employment, such shall be furnished by the Employer. The cost of maintaining the protective clothing, device or equipment in proper working condition shall be paid by the employer.

The Employer shall provide, annually, five changes of a uniform top (shirt/smock at the employee's option) which employees will be expected to wear except during periods when excused by the supervisor. Uniform styles will be selected by the Employer after discussion with the Union. Care and maintenance of uniforms shall be the responsibility of the employee.

B. Pensions:

The pension provisions now in effect for employees covered by this Agreement shall be continued.

C. Separability Clause:

This Agreement incorporates the entire understanding of the parties on all issues that were or could have been the subject of negotiation. During the term of this Agreement, neither party will be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter whether or not covered by this Agreement of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

This Agreement supersedes and cancels all previous Agreements, verbal or written, or based on alleged practices, between the parties. Any amendment, or agreement supplemental hereto shall not be binding upon either party unless executed in writing by the parties hereto.

D. No-Strike Clause:

The Union shall not engage in, assist or promote any strike, work stoppage or any other concerted action during the life of this Agreement. The Hartland Board of Education will not lock out the employees for any reason during the life of this Agreement.

E. Act of God Days:

Employees shall not be expected to report for work, nor shall they suffer loss of time or pay for the first two Act of God days on which school is scheduled, but closed. Employees called in for snow removal or other special work on those first two days will receive their hourly rate in addition to their regular pay. After the second Act of God day of the school year employees will be expected to report for work on any subsequent Act of God day and will be paid their normal hourly rate of pay for all hours worked that day. An employee who is unable to report due to weather conditions shall notify the supervisor as soon as possible and may use a personal business day or vacation day for that day, or in the alternative, receive no pay for the day.

- F. The parties affirm the mutual goal of encouraging and supporting active employees to take training/classes to enhance employee skills. To this end the district will meet annually with the union to discuss areas of need. The District will commit money for reimbursement for training in these areas if and when it is operationally and fiscally feasible. Such opportunities shall not be unreasonably denied. Employees who have gained new skills as a result of their training that will allow them to work out of their classification, could be assigned to perform this skill for up to 40% of the time within a pay period without receiving extra wages. Should an employee be assigned to work more than 40% of the time in a pay period, he/she will be paid at the appropriate higher rate of pay only for the additional time over 40%. The following steps must be followed for reimbursement to occur:
 - 1. The employee will submit the following information to the Director of Operations:
 - a. written request from the employee explaining the benefits of the training
 - b. course description from the school to include meeting times
 - c. breakdown of the cost the employee is requesting for reimbursement
 - 2. The employee's request will be reviewed and it will be determined if the request is appropriate and feasible.
 - 3. The District will give the employee its decision in writing. If approved, the District will include the amount to be reimbursed.
 - The employee may take the course.
 - Upon completion of the course, written documentation/transcripts must be submitted verifying successful completion of said course. College courses require a C or better to be considered successfully completed.
 - 6. Upon successful completion of the course the district will submit the agreed upon reimbursement amount.
 - 7. Disposition of these cases will be a proper matter for Special Conferences per Article 9. If not resolved, the case shall then be subject to the final step of the

grievance procedure. Said Special Conference shall be requested in a timely manner.

ARTICLE 41 - TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION

This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until June 30, 2021.

- A. If either party desires to amend and/or terminate this Agreement, it shall, sixty (60) days prior to the above termination date, give written notification of same.
- B. If neither party shall give such notice; this Agreement shall continue in effect from year to year thereafter, subject to notice of amendment or termination by either party, on sixty (60) days written notice prior to the current year's termination date.
- C. If notice or amendment of this Agreement has been given in accordance with the above paragraphs, this Agreement may be terminated by either party on ten (10) days written notice of termination.
- D. Any amendments that may be agreed upon shall become and be a part of this Agreement without modifying or changing any of the other terms of this Agreement.
- E. Notice of Termination or Modification: Notice shall be in writing and shall be sufficient if sent by certified mail, addressed, if to the Union to: Michigan Education Association, 3399 E. Grand River, Suite 203, Howell, MI 48843-7555; and if the Employer, addressed to: Hartland Consolidated Schools, 9525 Highland Road, Howell, MI 48843, or to such address as the Union or the Employer may make available to each other.

ARTICLE 42 - EFFECTIVE DATE

This Agreement, agreed to on November 21, 2017 shall become effective July 1, 2018 in its entirety and shall remain in effect until June 30, 2021.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed on the day and year first above written.

FOR THE UNION: (MEA/NEA)	FOR THE EMPLOYER:
President/ Negotiator	President President
Negotiator Negotiator	Cynthy Herricle Vice President
Negotiator	Secretary Secretary
Negotiator	Treasurer
Negotiator	Trystee
Negotiator	Trustee
Staff Representative MEA/NEA	Trustee

APPENDIX A

CLASSIFICATIONS AND RATES - UTILITY/MAINTENANCE SCALE 2018-2021 SCHOOL YEARS

2018- 2019 Salar	y Schedule	\$ 0.30	increase		
POSITION	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
Maintenance 2	17.40	17.60	18.61	19.62	20.65
Maintenance 1	14.81	15.71	16.61	17.53	18.43
Utility / Delivery	13.75	14.58	15.40	16.25	17.08
2019- 2020 Salar	y Schedule	1.50%	increase		
POSITION	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
Maintenance 2	17.66	17.86	18.89	19.91	20.96
Maintenance 1	15.03	15.95	16.86	17.79	18.71
Utility / Delivery	13.96	14.80	15.63	16.49	17.34
2020- 2021 Salaı	y Schedule	1.50%	increase		
POSITION	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5
Maintenance 2	17.93	18.13	19.17	20.21	21.27
Maintenance 1	15.26	16.18	17.11	18.06	18.99
Utility / Delivery	14.17	15.02	15.87	16.74	17.60

LONGEVITY SCHEDULE

Years of service*	2018-2019	2019-2020	2020-2021
5-9	\$500	\$500	\$750
10-14	\$750	\$750	\$1000
15+	\$1000	\$1000	\$1250

^{*} Years of service, not seniority date

Longevity pay will be paid at the conclusion of each school year. A year is completed provided the employee starts prior to August 1 of any given school year. Employees terminating employment prior to the completion of the total school year (June 30) would not be eligible for longevity pay. To qualify for longevity, the employee must have worked at least seventy-five percent (75%) of their scheduled time. Employees who worked less than seventy-five (75%) of their scheduled time will have their longevity payment prorated to reflect the percentage of scheduled time actually worked.

The Employer will contribute the full cost of retirement premiums in accordance with the Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement Law.

In the event snow plowing occurs outside the employee's regularly scheduled hours, the employee shall be paid at the maintenance-snow plowing classification rate of \$17.50 per hour. Ordinarily this work shall be performed by M¹, M² and utility personnel. Further, since the employee will perform the work on an overtime basis, the proper premium rate shall apply under Articles 31 and 32. Snowplowing done during the employee's regular work day shall be compensated at the employee's regular rate of pay.

Appendix B - Evaluation Form

Appendix B

Annual Performance Evaluation For Maintenance Department

Employee Name:					
Employee ID#:		Key: 1 = Unsatis	sfactory;		
Job Location:			Improvement Expectations		
School Year:		4 = Above	Expectation	s;	
	an (X) in the column that y	you feel is the proper evaluation for the Comments	question asked.	3 2	1
Item		Comments		3 2	1
Attendance December Machine December M	adlinas				
2. Dependability / Meeting De	adines				
3. Quality of Work					
4. Job Knowledge					
5. Attitude (fellow worker / sup					
6. Use of Materials / Cleaning					
7. Use and Care of Equipment	t				-
8. Use of Working Hours					
9. Personal Appearance					-
10. General Conduct in Buildir	ng				
11.Interactions with Administr	ation				
12. Interaction with Coworkers	3				
13. Interaction with Other Stat	ff				
14. Interaction with Public					
15. Development / Training					
The over	rall evaluation has bee	n found to be satisfactory n found to be unsatisfactory			
		dicate agreement with the conten	t material.		
Administrator	Date	Employee		Date	

Appendix C

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM

Griev	ance #	<u> </u>							
<u>Build</u>	ing	Assignment	Name of Grievant	Date of Informal Mtg.	<u>Date Filed</u>				
			<u>LEVEL I</u>						
A.	Date	Cause of Grievance	Occurred						
B.	1.	Statement of Grie	vance (cite provisions vi	olated)					
	-								
	-								
	2.								
	۷.	rener oodgre							
	-			246					
	_								
C.	Sign	ature of person filing	grievance						
D.									
E.	Date	of meeting with Sur	pervisor						
F.	Disp	osition of Supervisor							
	Sign	ature of Supervisor		Date					
G.	Date	received by Union	===						
Н.		Position of Union							
	Sian	oturo		Data					

LEVEL II

A.	Date received by Asst. Superintendent						
B.	Date of meeting with Asst. Superintendent						
C.	Disposition of Asst. Superintendent	Disposition of Asst. Superintendent					
	Signature	Date					
D.	Date received by Union						
E.	Position of Union						
	Signature	Date					
	LEVEL III						
A.	Date received by Superintendent						
В.	Disposition of Superintendent						
	Signature	Date					
C.	Date received by Union						
D.	Position of Union						
	Signature						

Distribution of Form

- 1. Superintendent
- 2. Asst. Superintendent
- 3. Supervisor
- 4. Union
- 5. Employee

NOTE: ALL provisions of Article 10 of the Agreement will be strictly observed in the settlement of grievances.

If additional space is needed attach an additional sheet.

Agreement to Expedite Bargaining Between

Hartland Consolidated Schools and

Hartland Custodial Maintenance Association

RE: Successor Agreement

November 21, 2017

- 1. The parties have agreed to enter into expedited bargaining for the purpose of bargaining a successor agreement to the present contract (2013-2018).
- 2. In the event a tentative agreement is not reached, the parties agree to return to the bargaining table per the current contract to engage in the full collective bargaining process for a successor agreement. In so doing, the parties are released from the bargaining positions taken during the expedited process.
- 3. The parties agree that the current contract is in effect until June 30, 2018, and that any newly bargained contract language will not take effect until July 1, 2018.
- 4. Any changes to the current 2013-2018 contract language agreed to by the parties prior to the expiration date of June 30, 2018 shall be accomplished by Letter of Agreement.

For the School District	
Sitt Honon	11-22-17
Signature	Date
For the Association:	
an)	11-22-17
Signature	Date

Letter of Agreement Between **Hartland Consolidated Schools Hartland Custodial Maintenance Association** November 22, 2017

RE: Hard Cap

The parties agree that for the school year July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018 (within the 2013-2018 contract) the only hard cap payment made by the district shall be the one made effective July 1, 2017. There will be no additional hard cap payment due or made effective January 1, 2018. Future hard cap payments will be governed by the successor contract.

For the District: Signature For the Association 11-22-17 Signature

Letter of Agreement

between

Hartland Consolidated Schools and

Hartland Custodial Maintenance Association

RE: Payroll Deduction for Payment of Union Dues

November 21, 2017

The parties hereby agree that for the remaining term of any current collective bargaining agreement between the parties, including Master Agreement, Letters of Agreement, and any other signed agreements between the parties, all references and requirements for payroll deduction for the purpose of paying union dues are hereby nullified, with the intent of full compliance with Section 164h of PA 108 – School Aid Act of 2017. The parties agree in good faith to ensure that the District is in full compliance with the requirements of the law in order to avoid the consequence of penalty or reduction to the amount of state aid received by the District.

For the Employer:

Att John	11-22-17
Signature	Date
For the Union:	
ans)	11-22-17
Signature	Date

AGENCY FEE LETTER OF AGREEMENT

between the Hartland Consolidated Schools Board of Education and the

Hartland Custodial Maintenance Association

The Board of Education of the Hartland Consolidated School District ("Employer") and the Hartland Custodial Maintenance Association, MEA/NEA ("Association") desire a positive and optimum working relationship derived in part from the benefits of fair and equitable representation as supported by the Collective Bargaining Agreement. In consideration of the benefits to both the Employer and Association of an agency shop arrangement, the parties hereby agree as follows:

- A. Each bargaining unit member shall, as a condition of employment, on or before thirty-one (31) days from the date of commencement of professional duties, join the Association or pay a service fee to the Association equivalent to the amount of dues uniformly required of members of the Association, less any amounts not permitted by law; provided, however, that the bargaining unit member may authorize payroll deduction for such fee. In the event that a bargaining unit member shall not pay such service fee directly to the Association or authorize payment through payroll deduction, the Employer shall, at the request of the Association, deduct the service fee from the member's salary and remit the same to the Association under the procedure provided below.
- B. Pursuant to Chicago Teachers' Union vs. Hudson, 106 S. Ct. 1066 (1986), the Union has established a "Policy Regarding Objections to Political-Ideological Expenditures." That policy, and the administrative procedures (including timetable for payment) pursuant thereto, apply only to non-union bargaining unit members. The remedies set forth in such policy shall be exclusive, and unless and until such procedures, including any administrative or judicial review thereof, shall have been availed of and exhausted, no dispute, claim or complaint by an objecting bargaining unit member concerning the application and interpretation of this Article shall be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement or any other administrative or judicial procedure.
 - C. The procedure in all cases of non-payment of the service fee shall be as follows:
 - 1. The Association shall notify the member of non-compliance by certified mail, return receipt requested, explaining that he or she is delinquent in not tendering the service fee, specifying the current amount of the delinquency, and warning him/her that unless the delinquent service fees are paid or a properly executed deduction form is tendered within fourteen (14) days, he or she shall be reported to Employer and a deduction of service fee shall be made from his or her salary; and
 - 2. If the member fails to comply, the Association shall give a copy of the letter sent to the delinquent member and the following written notice to Employer at the end of the fourteen (14) day period:

The Association certifies that (name) has failed to tender the periodic service fee required as a condition of employment under the Agency Fee Agreement and demands that under the terms of this Agreement, Employer deduct the delinquent service fee(s)

from the collective bargaining unit member's salary. The Association certifies that the amount of the service fee includes only those items authorized by law; and

- 3. Employer, upon receipt of said written notice and request for deduction, shall act pursuant to Section A above. In the event of compliance at any time prior to deduction, the request for deduction will be withdrawn. The Association, in enforcing this provision, agrees not to discriminate among bargaining unit members.
- D. With respect to all sums deducted by Employer pursuant to this Section, Employer agrees promptly to disburse said sums directly to the Association.
- E. A member paying the service fee provided for herein, or whose service fees have been deducted by Employer from his or her salary, may object to the use of the service fee for matters not permitted by law. The procedure for making such objections is that officially adopted by the Association. A copy of the Association Policy Regarding Objections to Political-Ideological Expenditures will be provided by the Association upon a request of a bargaining unit member.
- F. The Association agrees, upon timely request, to defend Employer, its officers, agents or employees in any suit brought against all or any of them regarding the Employer's enforcement of the terms of this Agency Fee Agreement, and to indemnify Employer, its officers, agents or employees, for any costs or damages which may be assessed against all or any of them arising out of the enforcement of this Agency Fee Agreement, provided, however, that:
 - 1. Neither the duty to defend nor the duty to indemnify shall arise where the damages and costs, if any, have resulted from the negligence, misfeasance or malfeasance of Employer, its officers, employees or agents,
 - 2. The Association has the right to choose the legal counsel to defend any such suit or action, after consultation with Employer; and
 - 3. If Employer, its officers, agents or employees elects to select its or their own counsel in any such suit, then the Association shall have no duty to indemnify those defendants it does not represent in the suit; provided, however, that if the Association, through counsel it selects after consultation with Employer, does represent Employer, its officers, agents or employees in such suit, such defendants may additionally hire their own counsel to assist in the defense of any such suit at their own expense; and
 - 4. The Association, after consultation with Employer, has the right to decide whether to defend any said action or to appeal the decision of any court or other tribunal regarding the validity of this Section; and
 - 5. The Association, in defense of any such suit, shall have the right to compromise or settle any monetary claim made against Employer, its officers, employees or agents under this Agency Fee Agreement, after consultation with Employer.
- G. Persons becoming members of the collective bargaining unit during the course of a school year shall have their service fee prorated over the school year.

- H. The Association will certify, at least annually to Employer, fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the first payroll deduction for dues or service fees, the amount of said dues and the amount of the service fee to be deducted by Employer, and that said service fee includes only those amounts permitted by the Agency Fee Agreement and by law.
- applied for membership, may sign and deliver to the Employer an assignment authorizing deduction of dues, assessments and contributions in the Association as established by the Association. Such authorization shall continue in effect from year-to-year unless revoked according to the procedures outlined in the MEA Constitution, Bylaws and Administrative Procedure. Pursuant to such authorization, the Employer shall deduct one-twentieth (1/20) of such dues, assessments and contributions from the regular bi-weekly salary check of the bargaining unit member each month for ten (10) months, beginning in September and ending in June of each year, not to exceed 20 deductions. Any employee who shall not perform services for any entire month of the school year shall have his dues reduced by one-tenth (1/10) of the yearly dues for each entire month he did not work, except where the failure to perform services during the month was the result of the employee taking paid leave provided for in this Agreement.
- J. Should any of the provisions of this Agency Fee Agreement be found contrary to law by a court or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction, it is the intent of the Employer and Association that only the portion of the Agency Fee Agreement found contrary to law shall be stricken and all other parts or portions of this Agency Fee Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. A determination that a portion of this Agency Fee Agreement is contrary to law shall not affect the terms and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect for the life of that agreement.
- K. This Agency Fee Agreement shall be effective immediately upon ratification, which in no event shall be later than March 26, 2013, and shall continue in full force and effect while the Association remains the exclusive collective bargaining representative until its expiration on June 30, 2020. After this date, termination of this agreement requires at least one party to issue a written notice of termination to the other party. Should a court or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction determine that the length of this Agency Fee Agreement is contrary to law, then it is the intent of the parties that this Agency Fee Agreement continue in effect for the longest period of time allowed by law. Should this Agency Fee Agreement be determined to be unlawful and no longer in effect, then any agency fee agreement contained in another agreement between the parties shall immediately go into full force and effect for the length of time allowed by that agreement.

MEA/NEA

By:

Date: 3-27-13

Board of Education of Hartland

Consolidated Schools

3-27-13

Letter of Agreement between the Hartland Consolidated Schools Board of Education and the

Hartland Custodial Maintenance Association Association March 25, 2013

Should it be determined that a law or regulation would penalize or reduce the Employer's state aid or any other state funding opportunity (i.e. best practices or any "one time" sources created in the future) solely for entering into the legally binding Agency Fee Agreement, then the Association will either absorb the funding loss or deem unenforceable section(s) of the Agency Fee Agreement triggering this penalty or reduction, unless another option is mutually agreed upon.

Should MERC, a court, or other administrative agency of competent jurisdiction find that such law is unconstitutional, illegal or otherwise unenforceable, then the section(s) of the Agency Fee Agreement that was deemed unenforceable shall go into full force and effect for the same period of time as the length of time remaining on the agreement when the language was deemed unenforceable.

For the Association:	An)	Date: 3-27-13
For the Board:	De Wan Eyrs	Date: 3- 27-13